
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

REICH RADCLIFFE & HOOVER LLP 
Marc G. Reich (SBN 159936) 
mgr@reichradcliffe.com 
Adam T. Hoover (SBN 243226) 
adhoover@reichradcliffe.com 
4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 550 
Newport Beach, CA 92660 
Phone:  (949) 975-0512 
Fax: (949) 208-2839 
 
LIFSHITZ & MILLER LLP 
Joshua M. Lifshitz (Pro Hac Vice to be submitted) 
jml@jlclasslaw.com 
821 Franklin Ave., Suite 209 
Garden City, NY 11530 
Phone: (516) 493-9780 
Fax: (516) 280-7376 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
EVAN DAVIS, Individually and on Behalf of All 
Others Similarly Situated,  
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
8POINT3 ENERGY PARTNERS LP, CHARLES 
D. BOYNTON, ALEX BRADLEY, NATALIE F. 
JACKSON, THOMAS C. O’CONNOR, NORMAN 
J. SZYDLOWSKI, MARK R. WIDMAR, and 
MICHAEL W. YACKIRA, 
 
  Defendants, 
 

Case No: 3:18-cv-02267 
 
 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR 
VIOLATIONS OF THE FEDERAL 
SECURITIES LAWS 
 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

Case 5:18-cv-02267-BLF   Document 1   Filed 04/16/18   Page 1 of 18



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PAGE 1 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

Plaintiff Evan Davis (“Plaintiff”) by and through his undersigned attorneys, brings this class 

action on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, and alleges the following based upon 

personal knowledge as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff and, as to all other matters, upon the 

investigation of counsel, which includes, without limitation: (a) review and analysis of public filings 

made by 8point3 Energy Partners LP (“8point3” or the “Partnership”) and other related parties and non-

parties with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”); (b) review and analysis 

of press releases and other publications disseminated by certain of the Defendants (defined below) and 

other related non-parties; (c) review of news articles, unitholder communications, and postings on the 

Partnership’s website concerning the Partnership’s public statements; and (d) review of other publicly 

available information concerning 8point3 and the Defendants. 

SUMMARY OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiff brings this class action on behalf of the public shareholders of 8point3 against 

the Partnership’s Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Individual Defendants”) for their violations 

of Section 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15.U.S.C. §§ 78n(a), 78t(a), and 

SEC Rule 14a-9, 17 C.F.R. 240.14a-9, in connection with the proposed sale of the Partnership. 

2. On February 5, 2018, 8point3 entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the 

“Merger Agreement”) with CD Clean Energy and Infrastructure V JV, LLC, an investment fund 

managed by Capital Dynamics, Inc., and certain other co-investors (collectively, “Capital Dynamics”), 

pursuant to which Capital Dynamics will acquire 8point3 through an acquisition of 8point3 General 

Partner, LLC (the “General Partner”), which manages the 8point3 partnership, all of the outstanding 

Class A shares in 8point3 and all of the outstanding common and subordinated units and incentive 

distribution rights in 8point3 Operating Company, LLC (“OpCo”), 8point3’s operating company (the 

“Proposed Transaction”). 

3. Pursuant to the Proposed Transaction, 8point3’s Class A shareholders, First Solar, Inc. 

(“First Solar”) and SunPower Corporation (“SunPower” and, together with First Solar, the 

“Sponsors”), as holders of common and subordinated units in OpCo, will receive $12.35 per share or 

per unit in cash, plus a preset daily amount representing cash expected to be generated from December 

Case 5:18-cv-02267-BLF   Document 1   Filed 04/16/18   Page 2 of 18



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PAGE 2 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

1, 2017 through closing less any distributions received after the execution of the Merger Agreement 

and prior to closing (the “Merger Consideration”). 

4. On March 19, 2018, Defendants caused 8point3 to file a materially incomplete and 

misleading preliminary proxy statement on Form PREM14A (the “Proxy Statement”) with the SEC, 

urging the Partnership’s shareholders to vote in favor of the Proposed Transaction. 

5. The Proxy Statement omits material information regarding the Proposed Transaction, 

rendering it false and misleading in violation of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act.  

Specifically, the Proxy Statement contains materially incomplete and misleading information 

regarding: (i) financial projections for 8point3; (ii) the analyses conducted by the Partnership’s 

financial advisor, Evercore Group L.L.C.; (iii) potential conflicts of interest faced by the financial 

advisors to the Proposed Transaction; and (iv) information regarding the process leading up the 

Proposed Transaction. 

6. As set forth more fully herein, Plaintiff seeks to enjoin Defendants from proceeding with 

the Proposed Transaction. In the event that the Proposed Transaction is consummated, Plaintiff seeks 

to recover damages from the Defendants for their violations of the Exchange Act.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over all claims asserted herein pursuant to 

Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C § 78aa, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as Plaintiff alleges violations 

of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over all of the Defendants because each is either a 

corporation that conducts business in, solicits shareholders in, and/or maintains operations within, this 

District, or is an individual who is either present in this District for jurisdictional purposes or has 

sufficient minimum contacts with this District so as to make the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court 

permissible under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.  

9. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial portion of the transactions 

and wrongs complained of herein occurred in this District.  Further, the Partnership’s principal 

executive offices are located in this District. 
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THE PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff is, and has been at all times relevant hereto, the owner of 8point3 common 

stock. 

11. Defendant 8point3 is a Delaware limited partnership with its principal executive offices 

located at 77 Rio Robles, San Jose, California 95134.  The Partnership’s common stock is traded on 

the NASDAQ under the symbol “CAFD.” 

12. Defendant Charles D. Boynton (“Boynton”) has been 8point3’s Chairman of the Board 

and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) since March 2015.  Defendant Boynton has also been the 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) since March 2012. 

13. Defendant Alex Bradley (“Bradley”) has been a member of 8point3’s Board since June 

2016.  Defendant Bradley has also been the CFO of First Solar since July 2016. 

14. Defendant Natalie F. Jackson (“Jackson”) has been a member of 8point3’s Board since 

March 2017 and has been the Vice President of Operations since June 2015. 

15. Defendant Thomas C. O’Connor (“O’Connor”) has been a member of 8point3’s Board 

since June 2015. 

16. Defendant Norman J. Szydlowski (“Szydlowski”) has been a member of 8point3’s Board 

since June 2015. 

17. Defendant Mark. R. Widmar (“Widmar”) has been a member of 8point3’s Board since 

March 2015 and has been the CEO of First Solar since July 2016. 

18. Defendant Michael W. Yackira (“Yackira”) has been a member of 8point3’s Board since 

June 2015. 

19. Defendants Boynton, Bradley, Jackson, O’Connor, Szydlowski, Widmar, and Yackira 

are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.” 

20. The Individual Defendants, together with Defendant 8point3, are collectively referred to 

as the “Defendants.” 
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

21. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 on behalf of 

himself and the other public shareholders of 8point3 (the “Class”). Excluded from the Class are 

Defendants herein and any person, firm, trust, corporation, or other entity related to or affiliated with 

any of the Defendants.  

22. This action is properly maintainable as a class action for the following reasons: 

23. The Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. As of March 19, 

2018, there were 28,093,305 8point3 common shares outstanding, held by hundreds, if not thousands, 

of individuals and entities scattered throughout the country. 

24. Questions of law and fact are common to the Class, including, among others: (i) whether 

Defendants have violated Sections 14(a) of the Exchange Act by misrepresenting or omitting material 

information concerning the Proposed Transaction in the Proxy Statement; (ii) whether the Individual 

Defendants have violated Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act; and (iii) whether Plaintiff and the Class 

would be irreparably harmed if the Proposed Transaction is consummated as currently contemplated 

and pursuant to the Proxy Statement as currently composed. 

25. Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Class, has retained competent counsel 

experienced in litigation of this nature, and will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  

26. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the Class and Plaintiff 

does not have any interests adverse to the Class.  

27. The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class would create a 

risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class which 

would establish incompatible standards of conduct for the party opposing the Class.  

28. A class action is superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently 

adjudicating this controversy.  

29. Defendants have acted, or refused to act, on grounds generally applicable to the Class as 

a whole, and are causing injury to the entire Class. Therefore, preliminary and final injunctive relief on 

behalf of the Class as a whole is entirely appropriate. 
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SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

Background of the Partnership 

30. 8point3 is a limited partnership formed by First Solar and SunPower with the purpose of 

owning, operating, and acquiring solar energy generation projects. 

31. First Solar is a global provider of comprehensive photovoltaic solar systems, with use its 

advanced module and system technology.  First Solar develops, finances, engineers, constructs and 

operates solar assets, with over 10GW installed worldwide.  First Solar’s states that its integrated 

power plant solutions deliver an economically attractive alternative to fossil-fuel electricity generation.  

As of December 31, 2014, First Solar had total assets of $6.7 billion. 

32. SunPower designs, manufactures and delivers solar panel systems targeted towards 

residential consumers, businesses, government entities and utility providers.  SunPower has offices in 

North and South America, Europe, Australia, Africa and Asia.   

The Partnership Announces the Proposed Transaction 

33. On February 5, 2018, the Partnership issued a press release announcing the Proposed 

Transaction, which stated, in pertinent part: 
 
SAN JOSE, Calif., Feb. 5, 2018 /PRNewswire/ -- 8point3 Energy Partners LP 
(NASDAQ: CAFD) (“8point3” or the “Partnership”) today announced it has entered 
into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Purchase Agreement (the “Merger 
Agreement”) with CD Clean Energy and Infrastructure V JV, LLC, an investment fund 
managed by Capital Dynamics, Inc., and certain other co-investors (collectively, 
“Capital Dynamics”), pursuant to which Capital Dynamics will acquire 8point3 through 
an acquisition of 8point3 General Partner, LLC (the “General Partner”), the general 
partner of the Partnership (such transaction, the “GP Transfer”), all of the outstanding 
Class A shares in the Partnership and all of the outstanding common and subordinated 
units and incentive distribution rights in 8point3 Operating Company, LLC (“OpCo”), 
the Partnership's operating company (the “Proposed Transactions”). 

Pursuant to the Proposed, the Partnership's Class A shareholders and First Solar, Inc. 
(NASDAQ: FSLR) (“First Solar”) and SunPower Corporation (NASDAQ: SPWR) 
(“SunPower” and, together with First Solar, the “Sponsors”), as holders of common and 
subordinated units in OpCo, will receive $12.35 per share or per unit in cash, plus a 
preset daily amount representing cash expected to be generated from December 1, 
2017 through closing less any distributions received after the execution of the Merger 
Agreement and prior to closing. No consideration will be received by the Sponsors for 
the incentive distribution rights and the GP Transfer. 
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* * * 

The completion of the Proposed Transactions is subject to a number of closing 
conditions, including approval by a majority of the outstanding 8point3 public Class A 
shareholders, the expiration of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino (HSR) 
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) 
Section 203 approval and the approval of the Committee on Foreign Investment in the 
United States (CFIUS). The Sponsors, which are the indirect owners of our General 
Partner and approximately 64.5 percent of OpCo’s outstanding units, have executed an 
agreement to vote in support of the Proposed Transactions. Additionally, the Proposed 
Transactions are subject to certain other customary closing conditions. 

 

The Proposed Transaction is Unfair to the Partnership’s Shareholders 

34.  As currently constructed, the Proposed Transaction serves primarily as a benefit for First 

Solar, SunPower, and Capital Dynamics, at the expense of the Partnership’s Class A shareholders. 

35. The price offered to shareholders as Merger Consideration severely undervalues 8point3.  

For instance, on February 2, 2018, the Friday before the announcement of the Proposed Transaction, 

8point3 shares closed at $14.29, nearly $2 more than the consideration contemplated by the Proposed 

Transaction.  In fact, as recently as January 8, 2018, 8point3 shares were trading at $15.90, nearly 30% 

more than that offered to shareholders in connection with the Proposed Transaction. 

36. 8point3 has previously recognized its strong financial performance.  On April 4, 2017, 

the Partnership stated that its “strong operating performance over the last two years has shown that 

owning a portfolio of high-quality solar assets can successfully generate long-tem, stable cash flow 

growth for investors.”  More recently, on March 28, 2018, 8point3 again announced positive financial 

results, stating that the Partnership had exceeded Q1 revenue, net income, Adjusted EBITDA, and 

CAFD guidance. 

37. Despite the positive financial outlook of the Partnership, Defendants conducted a flawed 

process, ultimately agreeing to enter into a transaction that was unfair to 8point3’s shareholders. 

38. While exploring the options for the liquidity of First Solar, it became apparent that the 

only market for the sale of First Solar was in fact the sale of all three components of the Partnership 

(First Solar, SunPower, and the public shareholder’s interest).  As such, Defendants agreed to the 

Proposed Transaction at an unfair price in order to complete the sale. 
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39. On June 19, 2017, an agreement was reached whereby First Solar would pay SunPower 

additional consideration from the proceeds received from the Proposed Transaction.  The effect of this 

agreement is that, based upon the unadjusted Merger Consideration of $12.35 per unit, First Solar will 

receive an aggregate of approximately $242.8 million (or $10.98 per OpCo Unit) and SunPower will 

receive an aggregate of approximately $387.1 million (or $13.40 per OpCo Unit).  As such, First Solar 

will achieve the liquidity it was searching for and SunPower will receive consideration greater than 

that of the Partnership’s Class A shareholders upon consummation of the Proposed Transaction 

40. On November 28, 2017, 8point3’s conflicts committee (the “Conflicts Committee”), 

consisting of Defendants O’Connor, Szydlowski, and Yackira, met with representatives of Evercore 

whereby it was determined that a proposal should be made whereby shareholders would receive 

$15.00 per Class A share with a corresponding reduction to the amount to be received by SunPower 

and First Solar in the event that Capital Dynamics would not increase its offer price from $12.35.  First 

Solar and SunPower responded that they would not be willing to provide this additional compensation. 

41. On January 16, 2018, the Conflicts Committee again met with Evercore in order to 

continue discussions regarding the Proposed Transaction.  Following the meeting, the Conflicts 

Committee proposed to First Solar and SunPower that 8point3 shareholders would receive 

consideration equivalent to that received by SunPower.  Again, First Solar and SunPower were 

unwilling to provide shareholders with increased compensation. 

42. The Conflicts Committee met again on February 5, 2018, and approved the Proposed 

Transaction.  Throughout negotiations, the Conflicts Committee continually tried to raise the 

consideration from First Solar and SunPower.  As such, it is apparent that the Conflicts Committee 

was well aware that the $12.35 price for shareholders was wholly inadequate.  Despite that knowledge, 

8point3 still entered into the Proposed Transaction, to the detriment of its Class A shareholders. 
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FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS 

AND/OR MATERIAL OMISSIONS IN THE PROXY STATEMENT 

43. On March 19, 2018, Defendants caused 8point3 to file the materially misleading Proxy 

Statement with the SEC, urging the Partnership’s shareholders to vote in favor of the Proposed 

Transaction.  Defendants were obligated to carefully review the Proxy Statement before it was filed 

with the SEC and disseminated to 8point3’s shareholders to ensure that it did not contain any material 

false and misleading statements or material misrepresentations or omissions. However, the Proxy 

Statement misrepresents and/or omits material information that is necessary for 8point3’s shareholders 

to make an informed decision concerning whether to vote in favor of the Proposed Transaction, in 

violation of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. 

Material False and Misleading Statements or Material Misrepresentations or Omissions 

Regarding the Management Prepared Financial Projections  

44. The Proxy Statement fails to provide material information concerning the Partnership’s 

financial projections.  Specifically, the Proxy Statement provides projections for non-GAAP 

(generally accepted accounting principles) metrics, including EBITDA, but fails to provide line item 

projections for the metrics used to calculate these non-GAAP measures or otherwise reconcile the non-

GAAP projections to the most comparable GAAP measures. 

45. When a company discloses non-GAAP financial measures in a Registration Statement, 

the company must also disclose all projections and information necessary to make the non-GAAP 

measures not misleading, and must provide a reconciliation (by schedule or other clearly 

understandable method), of the differences between the non-GAAP financial measure disclosed or 

released with the most comparable financial measure or measures calculated and presented in 

accordance with GAAP. 17 C.F.R. § 244.100.   

46. Indeed, the SEC has recently increased its scrutiny of the use of non-GAAP financial 

measures in communications with shareholders. The former SEC Chairwoman, Mary Jo White, 

recently stated that the frequent use by publicly traded companies of unique company-specific non-

GAAP financial measures (as Layne Christensen and Granite have included in the Registration 

Statement here), implicates the centerpiece of the SEC’s disclosures regime: 
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In too many cases, the non-GAAP information, which is meant to supplement 
the GAAP information, has become the key message to investors, crowding out 
and effectively supplanting the GAAP presentation. Jim Schnurr, our Chief 
Accountant, Mark Kronforst, our Chief Accountant in the Division of 
Corporation Finance and I, along with other members of the staff, have spoken 
out frequently about our concerns to raise the awareness of boards, management 
and investors. And last month, the staff issued guidance addressing a number of 
troublesome practices which can make non-GAAP disclosures misleading: the 
lack of equal or greater prominence for GAAP measures; exclusion of normal, 
recurring cash operating expenses; individually tailored non-GAAP revenues; 
lack of consistency; cherry-picking; and the use of cash per share data. I 
strongly urge companies to carefully consider this guidance and revisit their 
approach to non-GAAP disclosures. I also urge again, as I did last December, 
that appropriate controls be considered and that audit committees carefully 
oversee their company’s use of non-GAAP measures and disclosures.1 

 

47. The SEC has repeatedly emphasized that disclosure of non-GAAP projections can be 

inherently misleading, and has therefore heightened its scrutiny of the use of such projections.2  

Indeed, on May 17, 2016, the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance released new and updated 

Compliance and Disclosure Interpretations (“C&DIs”) on the use of non-GAAP financial measures 

that demonstrate the SEC’s tightening policy.3  One of the new C&DIs regarding forward-looking 

information, such as financial projections, explicitly requires companies to provide any reconciling 

metrics that are available without unreasonable efforts. 

48. Accordingly, in order to make the projections included in the Proxy Statement materially 

complete and not misleading, Defendants must disclose: (i) revenues from unconsolidated affiliates; 

(ii) principal repayments related to refinancing activities; (iii) all line items used to calculate unlevered 

                                                
1 Mary Jo White, Keynote Address, International Corporate Governance Network Annual Conference: 
Focusing the Lens of Disclosure to Set the Path Forward on Board Diversity, Non-GAAP, and 
Sustainability (June 27, 2016), https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/chair-white-icgnspeech.html. 
 
2 See, e.g., Nicolas Grabar and Sandra Flow, Non-GAAP Financial Measures: The SEC’s Evolving 
Views, Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance and Financial Regulation (June 24, 
2016), https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2016/06/24/non-gaap-financial-measures-thesecs evolving-
views/; Gretchen Morgenson, Fantasy Math Is Helping Companies Spin Losses Into Profits, N.Y. 
Times, Apr. 22, 2016, http://www.nytimes.com/2016/04/24/business/fantasy-math is-helping-
companies-spin-losses-into-profits.html?_r=0. 
 
3 Non-GAAP Financial Measures, Compliance & Disclosure Interpretations, U.S. SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION (May 17, 2017), 
https://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/guidance/nongaapinterp.htm. 

Case 5:18-cv-02267-BLF   Document 1   Filed 04/16/18   Page 10 of 18



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PAGE 10 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

free cash flow; (iv) all line items used to calculate Adjusted EBITDA; and (v) a reconciliation of all 

non-GAAP to GAAP metrics. 

Material False and Misleading Statements or Material Misrepresentations or Omissions 

Regarding Evercore’s Financial Analyses  

49. With respect to Evercore’s Unlevered Discounted Cash Flow Analysis, the Proxy 

Statement does not disclose: (i) the Merchant Price Curve Sensitivity projections; (ii) the Generation 

Sensitivity projections; (iii) 8point3’s net operating losses; and (iv) the inputs and assumptions 

underlying the range of discount rates of 5.0% to 7.0%. 

50. With respect to Evercore’s Peer Group Trading Analysis, the Proxy statement does not 

disclose: (i) the individual multiples and financial metrics for the companies observed by Evercore in 

its analysis; and (ii) the estimated 2018-2022 implied dividends per share for 8point3. 

51. With respect to Evercore’s Precedent M&A Transaction Analysis, the Proxy Statement 

fails to disclose the individual multiples and financial metrics for the transactions observed by 

Evercore in its analysis. 

52. When a banker’s endorsement of the fairness of a transaction is touted to shareholders, 

the valuation methods used to arrive at that opinion as well as the key inputs and range of ultimate 

values generated by those analyses must also be fairly disclosed. Moreover, the disclosure of projected 

financial information is material because it provides stockholders with a basis to project the future 

financial performance of a company and allows stockholders to better understand the financial 

analyses performed by the company’s financial advisor in support of its fairness opinion. 

53. The Proxy Statement also fails to disclose material information regarding potential 

conflicts of interest of Evercore, the Partnership’s financial advisor for the Proposed Transaction, 

including the amount of compensation Evercore received in the past for services provided to 8point3 

and its affiliates. 

54. The above omitted information is material to the Partnership’s shareholders, rendering 

Evercore’s financial analyses false and misleading. 
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Material False and Misleading Statements or Material Misrepresentations or Omissions 

Regarding the Background of the Proposed Transaction  

55. The Proxy Statement omits material information relating to the sale process leading up to 

the Proposed Transaction. 

56. The Proxy Statement fails to note whether any non-disclosure agreements executed by 

8point3 and prospective bidders contained “don’t ask, don’t waive” provisions that are presently 

precluding those parties from making a topping bid for the Partnership.  This information is material to 

shareholders in deciding how to vote on the Proposed Transaction, as it would show whether or not a 

superior offer for the Partnership was available. 

COUNT I 

(Against All Defendants for Violations of Section 14(a)  

of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9 Promulgated Thereunder) 

57. Plaintiff incorporates each and every allegation set forth above as if fully set forth herein. 

58. Section 14(a)(1) of the Exchange Act makes it “unlawful for any person, by the use of 

the mails or by any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of any facility of a national 

securities exchange or otherwise, in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission 

may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors, to 

solicit or to permit the use of his name to solicit any proxy or consent or  authorization in respect of 

any security (other than an exempted security) registered pursuant to section 78l of this title.” 15 

U.S.C. § 78n(a)(1). 

59. Rule 14a-9, promulgated by the SEC pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, 

provides that communications with stockholders in a recommendation statement shall not contain “any 

statement which, at the time and in the light of the circumstances under which it is made, is false or 

misleading with respect to any material fact, or which omits to state any material fact necessary in 

order to make the statements therein not false or misleading.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-9. 

60. The Defendants have issued the Proxy Statement with the intention of soliciting 

shareholders support for the Proposed Transactions. Each of the Defendants reviewed and authorized 
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the dissemination of the Proxy Statement, which fails to provide critical information regarding, among 

other things, the financial projections for the Partnership. 

61. In so doing, Defendants made untrue statements of fact and/or omitted material facts 

necessary to make the statements made not misleading. Each of the Defendants, by virtue of their roles 

as officers and/or directors, were aware of the omitted information but failed to disclose such 

information, in violation of Section 14(a). The Defendants were therefore negligent, as they had 

reasonable grounds to believe material facts existed that were misstated or omitted from the Proxy 

Statement, but nonetheless failed to obtain and disclose such information to shareholders although 

they could have done so without extraordinary effort. 

62. The Defendants knew or were negligent in not knowing that the Proxy Statement is 

materially misleading and omits material facts that are necessary to render it not misleading. The 

Defendants undoubtedly reviewed and relied upon the omitted information identified above in 

connection with their decision to approve and recommend the Proposed Transactions. 

63. The Defendants knew or were negligent in not knowing that the material information 

identified above has been omitted from the Proxy Statement, rendering the sections of the Proxy 

Statement identified above to be materially incomplete and misleading. Indeed, the Defendants were 

required to be particularly attentive to the procedures followed in preparing the Proxy Statement and 

review it carefully before it was disseminated, to corroborate that there are no material misstatements 

or omissions. 

64. The Defendants were, at the very least, negligent in preparing and reviewing the Proxy 

Statement. The preparation of a Proxy Statement by corporate insiders containing materially false or 

misleading statements or omitting a material fact constitutes negligence. The Defendants were 

negligent in choosing to omit material information from the Proxy Statement or failing to notice the 

material omissions in the Proxy Statement upon reviewing it, which they were required to do carefully 

as the Partnership’s directors. Indeed, the Defendants were intricately involved in the process leading 

up to the signing of the Merger Agreement and the preparation of the Partnership’s financial 

projections. 

Case 5:18-cv-02267-BLF   Document 1   Filed 04/16/18   Page 13 of 18



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PAGE 13 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

65. The misrepresentations and omissions in the Proxy Statement are material to Plaintiff 

and the Class, who will be deprived of their right to cast an informed vote if such misrepresentations 

and omissions are not corrected prior to the vote on the Proposed Transactions. 

66. Plaintiff and the Class have no adequate remedy at law. Only through the exercise of this 

Court’s equitable powers can Plaintiff and the Class be fully protected from the immediate and 

irreparable injury that Defendants’ actions threaten to inflict. 

COUNT II 

(Against the Individual Defendants for  

Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act) 

67. Plaintiff incorporates each and every allegation set forth above as if fully set forth herein. 

68. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of 8point3 within the meaning of 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their positions as officers and/or 

directors of 8point3, and participation in and/or awareness of the Partnership’s operations and/or 

intimate knowledge of the incomplete and misleading statements contained in the Proxy Statement 

filed with the SEC, they had the power to influence and control and did influence and control, directly 

or indirectly, the decision making of the Partnership, including the content and dissemination of the 

various statements that Plaintiff contends are materially incomplete and misleading. 

69. Each of the Individual Defendants was provided with, or had unlimited access to, copies 

of the Proxy Statement and other statements alleged by Plaintiff to be misleading prior to and/or 

shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements 

or cause the statements to be corrected. 

70. In particular, each of the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement 

in the day-to-day operations of the Partnership, and, therefore, is presumed to have had the power to 

control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the Exchange Act violations alleged 

herein, and exercised the same. The Proxy Statement at issue contains the unanimous recommendation 

of each of the Individual Defendants to approve the Proposed Transactions. They were thus directly 

involved in preparing this document. 

Case 5:18-cv-02267-BLF   Document 1   Filed 04/16/18   Page 14 of 18



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PAGE 14 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

71. In addition, as set forth in the Proxy Statement sets forth at length and described herein, 

the Individual Defendants were involved in negotiating, reviewing, and approving the Merger 

Agreement. The Proxy Statement purports to describe the various issues and information that the 

Individual Defendants reviewed and considered. The Individual Defendants participated in drafting 

and/or gave their input on the content of those descriptions. 

72. By virtue of the foregoing, the Individual Defendants have violated Section 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act. 

73. As set forth above, the Individual Defendants had the ability to exercise control over and 

did control a person or persons who have each violated Section 14(a) and Rule 14a-9 by their acts and 

omissions as alleged herein. By virtue of their positions as controlling persons, these Defendants are 

liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of Individual 

Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff and the Class will be irreparably harmed. 

74. Plaintiff and the Class have no adequate remedy at law. Only through the exercise of this 

Court’s equitable powers can Plaintiff and the Class be fully protected from the immediate and 

irreparable injury that Defendants’ actions threaten to inflict. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment and relief as follows: 

A. Ordering that this action may be maintained as a class action and certifying Plaintiff as the Class 

Representative and Plaintiff’s counsel as Class Counsel;  

B. Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendants and all persons acting in concert with them 

from proceeding with, consummating, or closing the Proposed Transactions;  

C. Directing the Individual Defendants to disseminate an Amendment to its Proxy Statement that 

does not contain any untrue statements of material fact and that states all material facts required 

in it or necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading;  

D. Directing Defendants to account to Plaintiff and the Class for their damages sustained because of 

the wrongs complained of herein;  

E. Awarding Plaintiff the costs of this action, including reasonable allowance for Plaintiff’s 

attorneys’ and experts’ fees; and  
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F. Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.  

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable 
 
DATED: April 12, 2018 REICH RADCLIFFE & HOOVER LLP 
  By: /s/ Adam T. Hoover 
  Adam T. Hoover 
 
  LIFSHITZ & MILLER LLP 
  Joshua M. Lifshitz 
  Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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Schedule A 

My transactions in ____CAFD___________ securities that are the subject of this litigation during 

the class period set forth in the complaint are as follows (P indicates a purchase, S indicates a sale): 

Security Date Sale Purchase Number of 
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